
 
 

 
 
 
3 December 2021 
 
 
To: Councillors Baker, Farrell, Kirkland, O'Hara, Owen, Robertson BEM and Stansfield  

 
The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 14 December 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 In the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Blackpool FY1 1GB 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either  
 

(a) personal interest 
(b) prejudicial interest  
(c) disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 

 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 NOVEMBER 2021  (Pages 1 - 10) 

 
 To agree the minutes of the last meeting held on 16 November 2021 as a true and 

correct record. 
 

3  PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED  (Pages 11 - 14) 
 

 The Committee will be requested to note the planning/enforcement appeals lodged 
and determined. 

 

Public Document Pack



4  PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT  (Pages 15 - 18) 
 

 The Committee will be asked to note the outcomes of the cases and support the 
actions of the Service Manager, Public Protection. 

 
5  PLANNING APPLICATION 21/0247: ARNOLD MEDICAL CENTRE, 204 ST ANNES ROAD, 

BLACKPOOL  (Pages 19 - 34) 
 

 To consider planning application 21/0247 for the erection of a single storey rear 
extension and extension of existing hard surfacing to the front and side of property to 
create replacement parking. 

 
6  DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 
 To note the date of the next meeting as 25 January 2022. 

 
 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Jenni Cook, Democratic Governance Senior 
Adviser, Tel: (01253) 477212, e-mail jennifer.cook@blackpool.gov.uk  
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

mailto:jennifer.cook@blackpool.gov.uk
http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

Present:  
 

Councillor Owen (in the Chair) 
 

Councillors 
 

Hunter 
Kirkland 

O'Hara 
Robertson BEM 

D Scott 
Stansfield 

 

 
In Attendance:  
 
Carl Carrington, Head of Planning, Quality and Control 
Jenni Cook, Democratic Governance Senior Advisor 
Clare Johnson, Principal Planner 
Clare Lord, Legal Officer 
Susan Parker, Head of Development Management 
Latif Patel, Network Planning and Projects Manager 
 
1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest on this occasion. 
 
2 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12 OCTOBER 2021 
 
The Committee considered the minutes of the last meeting held on 12 October 2021. 
 
Resolved: 
That the minutes of the Planning Committee be approved and signed by the Chair as a 
correct record. 
 
3 PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED 
 
The Planning Committee considered a report on planning and enforcement appeals 
lodged since the last meeting. Two appeals had been lodged and no appeals had been 
determined. 
 
Resolved: 
To note the update. 
 
4 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
The Planning Committee considered a report on planning enforcement activity within 
Blackpool between 1 September 2021 and 30 September 2021.  During September 41 
new cases were registered for investigation and as at 30 September 2021 there were 497 
“live” complaints outstanding.  Of these, 13 cases had been resolved by negotiation 
without recourse to formal action and 27 cases had been closed. No formal notices had 
been authorised or issued during September 2021. 
 
Resolved: 
To note the update. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
5 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT OCTOBER 2021 
 
The Planning Committee considered a report on planning enforcement activity within 
Blackpool between 1 October 2021 and 31 October 2021.  During October 31 new cases 
had been registered for investigation and as at 31 October 2021 there were 466 “live” 
complaints outstanding.  In total 15 cases were resolved by negotiation without recourse 
to formal action and 44 cases were closed.  In respect of formal notices, 3 Section 215 
notices had been authorised and 1 Community Protection Notice had been issued. 
 
Resolved: 
To note the update. 
 
6 PLANNING APPLICATION AND APPEALS PERFORMANCE 
 
The Planning Committee considered the report in relation to Government targets and 
performance in the second quarter of the 2021/2022 financial year. In respect of major 
applications, the Council had determined 75% within 13 weeks against a Government 
target of 60%.  Similarly in respect of non-major applications, the Council had determined 
98% within 8 weeks against a Government Target of 70%. 
 
Resolved: 
To note the update and to thank the Planning Team for their work. 
 
7 SCHEME OF DELEGATION: PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
Ms Susan Parker, Head of Development Management, outlined the report which sought 
the Committee’s approval to amend the existing Scheme of Delegation to enable 
additional officers to sign off planning applications.   
 
The proposed changes would not affect the Scheme of Delegation in terms of the types of 
applications or the circumstances under which applications would be brought to the 
Committee.  The intention of the amendment was to extend the Scheme of Delegation to 
Senior Planners to improve and expand their skill set and to build resilience within the 
Team. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Scheme of Delegation is amended to enable Senior Planners to sign off planning 
applications. 
 
8 PLANNING APPLICATION 20/0250: BARN ADJACENT TO 34/36 MOSS HOUSE ROAD 
 
The Planning Committee considered planning application 20/0250 for the erection of one 
dwelling house following demolition of barn adjacent to 34/36 Moss House Road. 
 
Miss Susan Parker, Head of Development Management, outlined the report, the nature of 
the application, along with the detail of what was proposed, which would result in the 
loss of a locally listed redundant barn building. Whilst the loss of the building was 
considered to be unfortunate, Miss Parker noted that much of the building’s character 
and heritage value had already been lost due to modern alterations to the main elevation.  Page 2



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
The site was considered to be acceptable in the principle of residential use and also 
considered to be acceptable in relation to nearby neighbour amenity. In addition, since 
the first submission the design of the property had been amended to create a stronger 
vertical emphasis and reduce the scale of the porch to ensure it was not an over-
dominating feature.  
 
In respect of consultees, subject to an appropriate building recording, the Council’s Built 
Heritage Manager had raised no objection to the application. The Civic Trust had 
objected, along with representations from six local residents, which were detailed in the 
Committee report. Subject to appropriate conditions, no objections had been raised by 
consultees in relation to drainage or highways (notwithstanding the concerns raised by 
residents in their representations). 
 
The building would contribute an additional dwelling to the Borough’s housing supply and 
would not generate any requirement for planning obligations. On balance the barn’s 
replacement with a good quality family dwelling was considered acceptable and Members 
were recommended to approve the application subject to the conditions listed in the 
officer report. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and noted the overview of the application that 
had been given by the Head of Development Management.   
 
Resolved: 
That the application is approved subject to the conditions in the officer report. 
 
9 PLANNING APPLICATION 20/0794: LAND AT RYSCAR WAY, BLACKPOOL 
 
The Planning Committee considered application 20/0794 for the erection of 51 private 
dwelling houses with associated access, parking and landscaping on land at Ryscar Way, 
Blackpool. 
 
Ms Clare Johnson, Principal Planning Officer, outlined the report and provided a summary 
of the application details, scale and nature. The application was a major housing proposal 
situated on council-owned land and the boundary between Blackpool Council and Wyre 
Council ran through the east of the site, with the access being off Faraday Way in Wyre. A 
corresponding application had been made to Wyre Borough Council.   
 
The proposed scheme would make a significant contribution to meeting the Borough’s 
housing needs and planning permission was recommended for approval subject to the 
signing of a Section 106 legal agreement relating to a financial contribution towards off-
site public open space and a contribution towards an extension at St Paul’s surgery and 
reconfiguration at Moor Park Health Centre. A further request for a contribution of 
£150,831 from the NHS Foundation Trust had been submitted, however Ms Johnson 
clarified to the Committee that Section 106 funding could not be used as a means to stop-
gap public sector funding and was unacceptable as a planning obligation. Therefore the 
officer recommendation was that the Committee should not require the developer to 
make the contribution requested by the NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
 Page 3



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
The scheme included 16 affordable housing units which would be accessed off Ryscar 
Way, and the remaining 35 units would be accessed off a new road off Faraday Way. The 
site was close to schools, employment opportunities, green space and several bus routes. 
The smaller houses fell short of the nationally described space standards but would be 
sufficient to meet the needs of the future occupiers. The layout and separation distances 
were considered to be sufficient to protect privacy. Any undue amenity impacts arising 
from noise during construction could be adequately avoided through the imposition of 
the conditions recommended.  
 
Ms Johnson noted that the smaller houses fell short of the nationally described space 
standards but would be sufficient to meet the needs of the future occupiers. The layout 
and separation distances were considered to be sufficient to protect privacy. Any undue 
amenity impacts arising from noise during construction could be adequately avoided 
through the imposition of the conditions recommended.  
 
In respect of ecology matters, Ms Johnson informed the Committee that the proposed 
scheme would result in the loss of a hedgerow along the north and west of the site. 
Discussion had taken place with the Council’s ecology consultants and had resulted in 
submission of a more robust indicative landscaping scheme which indicated replacement 
hedgerow planting in the public open space, comprising a range of native hedgerow 
planting to mitigate the loss of the existing hedgerow along with more than 100 heavy 
standard trees, smaller trees and shrubs, a wildflower meadow and aquatic planting as 
appropriate had been secured which would benefit biodiversity, and those details could 
be agreed by condition. 
 
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the update note which contained a 
representation and objection to the scheme from Mr Paul Maynard MP. The update note 
corrected an error in paragraph 11.7.9 of the officer report to state that the outline 
permission included the retention of the hedgerow to the west along the public open 
space, but not along the northern boundary. In addition the update note recommended 
amendment to condition 3. 
 
The development was considered to constitute sustainable development and Members 
were recommended to approve the application subject to the conditions listed at the end 
of the officer report, the amended condition in the update report and the signing of a 
Section 106 agreement to secure health and public open space contributions.  
 
Mr Brian Holt spoke in objection to the application and raised concerns regarding road 
safety and issues with speeding traffic around the site. He drew the Committee’s 
attention to previous planning history for the site and noted that, in his opinion, 51 
houses was too large a number, in in particular the houses fronting onto Ryscar Way. He 
reiterated his concerns regarding speeding traffic and asked that mitigations such as 
speed bumps be considered and asked the Committee to refuse the application. 
 
Ms Rachel Monks, sharing the public speaking time with Mr Holt, spoke in objection to 
the application and raised concerns regarding dangerous driving and the dangers to pets 
and children. 
 
 Page 4



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
 
Mr Andrew Booth, as the applicant, spoke in favour of the application and informed the 
Committee that this was a £13m investment into the area from a family-owned Blackpool 
business. The application was for high quality family housing which would bring 
regeneration and employment benefits. A comprehensive Flood Risk Assessment had 
been carried out along with discussions with relevant flood authorities.  Ecology and 
topographical issues with regarding to the hedgerows had been mitigated by the 
provision of high-quality new hedgerows and this would be controlled by robust planning 
condition. Only 16 of the units were accessible from Ryscar Way following discussions 
with the Highways Authorities. The application would provide affordable housing 
managed by Great Places Housing.  
 
Councillor Farrell spoke on the application as a Ward Councillor and raised residents’ 
concerns regarding flooding and speeding traffic. She displayed pictures of flooding which 
had been provided to her by residents and raised concerns regarding the road 
infrastructure in the area and the loss of hedgerows.  Concerns were also noted regarding 
the siting of the affordable housing, which located all the properties into one corner of 
the development, which she considered to be unacceptable.  
 
The Chair sought the opinion of Mr Latif Patel, Network and Planning Projects Manager. 
Mr Patel noted that the application was considered to be acceptable, however it could be 
beneficial for the developer to undertake a speed survey to determine the actual traffic 
speed and to address concerns. 
 
Miss Susan Parker, Head of Development Management, addressed the Committee and 
clarified that a speed survey could be secured by condition. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and noted that although the proposed scheme 
was on Council-owned land, any benefit to the Council from this was not a planning 
consideration. It was noted that the size of the houses did fall short of the Nationally 
Described Space Standards in terms of gross internal floor space. Concerns were also 
raised regarding the siting of the affordable housing in one area of the site. The 
Committee noted that hedgerows would be removed, although replacement was 
controlled by condition. 
 
Miss Parker addressed the concerns and queries raised by the Committee and with 
respect to flooding, noted that a housing development would provide a drainage system 
and strategy and that no objections had been raised by drainage officers. With respect to 
air quality, the application was not sited in an air quality management area. The siting of 
the affordable housing had been done in a manner that registered providers preferred 
and there was a chance that a provider may not want to take the properties on if they 
were dispersed too far across the development. She also explained that the Council did 
not currently have a planning policy that applied minimum space standards to new build 
properties. 
 
The Chair noted that there were 35 conditions proposed for the application and that 
officers were satisfied that these conditions were adequate. It was clarified that only 14 
houses accessed the estate via Ryscar Way and separate condition could be considered to 
request that a traffic survey be carried out.  Page 5



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
The Committee discussed traffic concerns further and Mr Patel stated that the minimum 
time to conduct a traffic/speed survey for would be for two weeks to obtain a full picture 
of the volume, speed and classification of vehicles. The Committee noted Mr Patel’s 
comments and felt that the applicant should have carried out a traffic survey prior to the 
application coming before the Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
To defer the application to a future meeting of the Planning Committee to allow the 
applicant to carry out a traffic and speed survey and to provide a scheme of highway 
works. 
 
10 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/0530: 124 NORBRECK ROAD, BLACKPOOL 
 
The Planning Committee considered planning application 20/0530 for 124 Norbreck Road, 
Blackpool. 
 
Miss Susan Parker, Head of Development Management, outlined the report, the nature of 
the application and the details of the proposal. 
 
The application was for the use of a premises as a residential care home for up to two 
people over the age of 18. The application had been brought before the Planning 
Committee at the request of the ward councillor and the recommendation was for 
refusal. Miss Parker outlined the planning history of the site and reminded the Committee 
that the application had been before the Committee before and had initially been 
recommended for approval, however whilst the S106 agreement was being prepared, the 
Council had obtained additional legal advice.  As the property fell within 400m of a semi-
independent living facility for young people, the application had been brought back to the 
Committee and refused on the basis of conflict with Policy BH24 of the Local Plan.  
 
The proposed scheme would serve adults rather than children and as such there was no 
locational conflict with Policy BH24. However the key issue for the Committee to consider 
was one of need and the Council’s Children Adults and Family Services Team had 
confirmed that there was currently no need in Blackpool for the type of accommodation 
proposed. In addition, as there was no confirmed need, it was feasible that the 
placements could be from outside the Borough, which would be contrary to the Council’s 
strategy. 
 
Miss Parker noted that the scheme was not considered to represent sustainable 
development and members were recommended to refuse the application for the reasons 
set out in the officer’s report. 
 
Mr Daniel Lee, as the applicant, spoke in favour of the application and asked the 
Committee to give limited weight to the Policy DM3 in the Blackpool Local Plan Part 2. He 
noted the objections raised by residents and the Member of Parliament. The issue of the 
facility being used by people from outside the Borough was speculative and could be 
mitigated by a S106 agreement. Mr Lee outlined the previous planning history of the 
application and his disappointment with the previous decision to refuse. Mr Lee queried 
Councillor Sloman’s links with another care provider in terms of her objections to the 
application. Page 6



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
Councillor Mrs Callow spoke on the application as a Ward Councillor and stated that the 
Committee had excellent reasons to refuse the application. The property had been rented 
on a 5-year lease to the applicants and in that time the garden had become overgrown 
and an outbuilding had been used by a rough sleeper. She stated that the elderly 
residents nearby had been disrupted by the application and did not feel that their views 
had been taken into account by the applicant and asked the Committee to refuse the 
application. 
 
Councillor Sloman addressed the Committee as a Ward Councillor and stated that she had 
left the employ of a care company in May 2021, confirmed that her husband did not work 
for their either and that she was speaking on this item on behalf of her constituents as 
their representative. Councillor Sloman referred to the Independent Review of Children’s 
Social Care in England report issued by Josh MacAlistair and noted that the applicant had 
not provided a statement of purpose and was unclear as to the adults that would be 
accommodated within the facility. Councillor Sloman asked the Committee to refuse the 
application. 
 
In response to issues raised by the speakers, Miss Parker reminded the Committee that 
limited weight should be given to Policy DM3 and that the application was a breach of the 
Council’s current policy BH24 which was referenced in the proposed reason for refusal. A 
S106 agreement could have been considered only where the Children’s and Family 
Service had confirmed a need for this facility. Therefore, the application did not meet the 
policy. The condition of the garden was not a material planning consideration. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and stated that this was outside of the Council’s 
policy. 
 
Resolved: 
That the application is refused for the reasons outlined in the officer’s report. 
 
11 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/0587: LAND AT 26 - 30 ABINGDON STREET, BLACKPOOL 
 
The Planning Committee considered application 21/0587 and 21/0591 (listed building 
consent) for land at 26-30 Abingdon Street, Blackpool. The items were taken together and 
the Committee voted on each decision separately. 
 
Ms Clare Johnson, Principal Planning Officer, outlined the report and provided the 
Committee with an overview of the site and application details. The site contained a 
number of listed buildings which included 8 telephone boxes in front of the post office, St 
Johns Church and the Winter Gardens. In addition Abingdon Street Market and the Cedar 
Tavern on Edward Street were both locally listed. The post office and the sorting office 
buildings were within the Town Centre Conservation area. The former post office building 
was Grade II listed. The post office closed in 2007 and the buildings were now empty, 
boarded up and were a target for vandalism.  
 
The Committee was provided with an outline of planning history on the site with the most 
recent approval being in 2019 and the principle of hotel development was established. 
The application would be a regeneration project that would bring the building back into 
use and would support other businesses and attractions in the area.   Page 7



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
Ms Johnson provided the Committee with an overview of the extension works and 
alterations proposed and clarified that the replacement flat roof extension would 
approximately 1.5 metres higher than the existing roof extension, but set back behind the 
front parapet by approximately 1.3m. 
 
In respect of consultees, the application was fully supported by Historic England, the 
Council’s Built Heritage Advisor and the Civic Trust.  
 
Car parking spaces would primarily serve guests with mobility problems and the site was 
highly accessible via public transport. Electric vehicle charging points would be provided, 
along with a cycle store. The application site was within the town centre and given the 
constraints of the site, the car parking provision is considered to be acceptable.   
 
In respect of ecology, the Council was still waiting for comments from consultant 
ecologists on a bat survey. If further surveys were required then these could not be 
carried out until May 2022. 
 
A representation had been received which was neutral in tone, but had raised concerns 
regarding site access and damage to Edward Street, parking concerns and the impact 
upon smaller hoteliers and businesses.  Ms Johnson informed the Committee that issues 
regarding Edward Street could be covered by the Construction Management Plan and 
that nearby businesses would benefit from use of the property as a hotel once it was in 
operation. 
 
The Committee was asked to support the applications and in respect of application 
21/0587, to delegate the decision to the Head of Development Management for 
approval, subject to further ecological surveys confirming the absence of protected 
species and subject to the conditions as set out in the officer report and amended 
condition as set out in the update report.  In respect of application 21/0591, the 
Committee was asked to approve the listed building consent subject to the conditions set 
out in the report and amended condition in the update report. 
 
Mr Ian White spoke as an objector to the application, however he noted that he broadly 
welcomed the scheme and was pleased that a heritage asset would be brought back into 
use. He raised concerns regarding parking provision and the potential damage that heavy 
machinery could cause to Edward Street and the impact upon businesses. Mr White asked 
the developers to work with local hoteliers and businesses to minimise the impact on 
local businesses. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and noted that the site would bring a neglected 
heritage asset back into use. The development would provide employment and attract 
investment into the area.   
 
Resolved: 
(21/0587) That the Committee supports the application and delegated the decision to the 
Head of Development Management for approval, subject to further ecological surveys 
confirming the absence of protected species and subject to the conditions set out in the 
officer report and the update report.  
 Page 8



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

12 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/0591: LISTED BUILDING CONSENT FOR LAND AT 26-30 
ABINGDON STREET, BLACKPOOL 
 
The Planning Committee considered planning application 21/0591 for listed building 
consent at land at 26-30 Abingdon Street Blackpool. 
 
Ms Clare Johnson, Principal Planning Officer, had outlined the application during the 
previous item (Item 11: 21/0587) and discussion had also taken place during this item. 
 
Resolved: 
That listed building consent is granted subject to the conditions set out in the officer 
report and the amended condition in the update report. 
 
13 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/0654: LAND BOUNDED BY EAST TOPPING STREET, 
COOKSON STREET, KING STREET AND DEANSGATE, BLACKPOOL 
 
The Planning Committee considered planning application 21/0654 for land bounded by 
East Topping Street, Cookson Street, King Street and Deansgate, Blackpool. 
 
Miss Susan Parker, Head of Development Management, provided the Committee with an 
outline of the application details and the site. The application was for the third phase of 
the Talbot Gateway Scheme. Outline planning permission had been granted in March 
2021 and this application sought to agree access, layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping. 
 
The proposed 7-storey building would have the upper floors occupied by the Department 
for Work and Pensions (DWP) and would also contain a medical centre on the ground 
floor. 
 
Miss Parker showed the Committee an artist’s impression of the building which outlined 
how the brutalist architecture of the design would be broken up by using vertical and 
horizontal bars and by using dark grey cladding. This design was considered to be 
acceptable and would not have a harmful impact on the Town Centre Conservation Area 
or nearby listed buildings.  One objection had been received, however this was an 
objection to the development in principle and the principle of development had already 
been established.  
 
The Committee was asked to approve the application subject to the amendments to 
conditions 1, 2 and 3 as noted in the update report. 
 
Mr Ed Harvey, as the applicant’s agent, spoke on the application and noted that the 
principle of development had been established at outline stage. This was a key 
development and regeneration priority for the Council that would meet occupier demand 
to bring more employment to the town centre, along with a new medical centre.  There 
had been no objections from statutory consultees and he asked the Committee to 
approve the application. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and agreed that this would be a huge 
improvement to this part of the town centre and was a significant employment initiative 
which would benefit the local economy. Page 9



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

 
Resolved: 
That the application is granted subject to the conditions set out in the officer report and 
amended conditions in the update report. 
 
14 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the date of the next meeting as 14 December 2021. 
 
  
  
  
  
Chairman 
  
(The meeting ended at 8.00 pm) 
  
Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact: 
Jenni Cook Democratic Governance Senior Adviser 
Tel: (01253) 477157 
E-mail: lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 

Page 10



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Relevant Officer: Susan Parker, Head of Development Management 
 

Date of Meeting: 
 

14 December 2021 

 
PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED 
 
1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 The Committee is requested to note the planning and enforcement appeals, lodged 
and determined. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To note the report. 
 
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To provide the Committee with a summary of planning appeals for information. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1 None, the report is for information only. 
 
5.0 Council Priority: 

 
5.1 The relevant Council priorities are both ‘The Economy: maximising growth and 

opportunity across Blackpool’ and ‘Communities: creating stronger communities and 
increasing resilience’.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



6.0 Planning Appeals Lodged 
 

6.1 
 
 
 

20/0033 – Land Adjacent 433 Midgeland Road, Blackpool – Use of land for the 
keeping of horses and as a residential caravan site for two traveller families, each 
with two caravans (one static caravan/mobile home and one touring caravan), 
together with the erection of two ancillary amenity buildings and extension to 

hardstanding. An appeal has been lodged by Mr C Tyers against the Councils 
refusal of planning permission. 
 

7.0 
 
7.1 
 
 

Planning Appeals Determined 
 
20/0436 2 Cherrywood Avenue and 6 Anchorsholme Lane West, Blackpool 
 
Appeal Dismissed 
 
The Inspector agreed with the Council that the main issues were the effect of the 
proposed development on a) the living conditions of the residential occupiers of 4 
Cherrywood Avenue and b) the character and appearance of the area. 
 
She said the proposal would not result in a loss of privacy to 4 Cherrywood Avenue as 
the 2 metre high close boarded fence would prevent overlooking.  She agreed that 
the proposed car park would result in car doors slamming, car audio equipment and 
frequent vehicle movements and manoeuvring together with talking customers with 
the long opening hours of the store would be very different from the residential use 
of the 2 dwellings on site now.  Consequently by virtue of proximity and the nature, 
intensity and frequency of use, the proposal would result in noise and disturbance to 
4 Cherrywood Avenue.  
 
The proposed timber fencing and landscaped buffer would be unlikely to mitigate the 
noise or screen the proposal and would cause harm to the living conditions of the 
residential occupiers of 4 Cherrywood Avenue. 
 
The Inspector stated that the designated local centre includes the food store and its 
car park.  Frontage parking is therefore a feature of the local centre, however, the 
proposal would protrude beyond the local centre into the adjoining residential area.  
She said that whilst the appeal site was relatively modest in size, nevertheless there 
would be a significant visual impact from the replacement of the dwellings with an 
open car park.  The cumulative increase in the extent and dominance of car parking 
would erode the residential character of the area. The proposal would not make a 
positive contribution to the streetscene or local distinctiveness.  It would not 
contribute to the aims of the Framework in relation to creating high quality, beautiful 
and sustainable places, with good design key to creating better places in which to live 
and work and helping to make development acceptable to communities. 
 

Page 12



 

She noted that the car parking survey evidence did not appear to demonstrate a 
significantly reduced demand for parking during the pandemic nor did it appear to 
take into account the widely reported shift from public transport to private vehicles, 
which may have resulted in a greater proportion of trips by car during the survey. The 
survey was carried out when a nearby Aldi store and car park was closed, which is 
likely to have increased the parking pressure at the appeal store too. 
 

7.2 Does the information submitted include any exempt information?          No 
 
7.3 
 
 
8.0 

 
The Planning Inspectorate decision letters can be viewed online at 
https://idoxpa.blackpool.gov.uk/online-applications/ 

 
   List of Appendices 

 
8.1 

 
None 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 None 
 

10.0 Legal considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 

 

11.0 Risk management considerations 
 

11.1 
 

None 
 

12.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

12.1 None 
 

13.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

13.1 None 
 

14.0 Internal/External Consultation undertaken: 
 

14.1 None 
 

15.0 Background papers: 
 

15.1 None 

Page 13

https://idoxpa.blackpool.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Planning Committee 

Relevant Officer: Tim Coglan (Service Manager, Public Protection) 

Date of Meeting: 14 December 2021 

  

 

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

The Committee is requested to consider the summary of planning enforcement activity 
within Blackpool, between 1 November 2021 and 30 November 2021. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  To note the outcomes of the cases set out below and to support the actions of the Service 
Manager, Public Protection Department, in authorising the notices set out below. 

  
3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 

 
3.1  
 

The Committee is provided with a summary of planning enforcement activity for its 
information. 
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  Not applicable. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is  

 “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool” 

 “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience” 
 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



6.0  Background information 
 

6.1   Cases 
 

New ca  New Cases 
 
In total, 34 new cases were registered for investigation in November 2021. 
 
As at 30 November 2021, there were 449 “live” complaints outstanding. 
  
Resolved cases 
 
In total, 8 cases were resolved by negotiation without recourse to formal action. 
 
Closed cases 
 

In total, 39 cases were closed. These cases include those where there was no breach of 
planning control found, no action was appropriate, or where it was considered not expedient 
to take action. 
 
Formal notices  
 

 Two enforcement notices were authorised in November 2021; 

 No s215 notices were authorised in November 2021; 

 One enforcement notice was issued in November 2021; 

 Two s215 notices were issued in November 2021 

 One Community Protection Warning (CPW) and two Community Protection Notices 
(CPN) were issued in respect of empty properties. 

  

 Notices authorised 
 

Ref Address Case Dates 

21/8096 1 Brookfield 
Avenue (FY4 
5HF) 

Without planning 
permission, the 
erection of a timber 
structure to the rear 
 

Enforcement Notice 
authorised 
10/11/2021 

21/8474 43 Hull Road 
(FY1 4QB) 

Without planning 
permission, the 
material change of 
use of the property 
from a hotel to a 
house in multiple 
occupation 

Enforcement Notice 
authorised 
22/11/2021 

 

Page 16



 
Notices issued 
 

Ref Address Case Dates 

21/8474 43 Hull Road  
(FY1 4QB) 

Without planning 
permission, the 
material change of 
use of the property 
from a hotel to a 
house in multiple 
occupation 

Enforcement Notice 
issued 23/11/2021. 
Due for compliance by 
03/04/2022 unless an 
appeal is lodged with 
the Planning 
Inspectorate by 
03/01/2022 
 

20/8418 6 Chelford 
Avenue (FY3 
7JA) 

Poor condition of 
property 

S215 Notice issued 
25/11/2021.  Due for 
compliance by 
03/04/2022 unless an 
appeal is lodged with 
the Magistrates Court 
by 03/01/2022 
 

17/8214 42 Woodfield 
Road (FY1 6AX) 

Poor condition of 
property 

S215 Notice issued 
30/11/2021.  Due for 
compliance by 
07/04/2022 unless an 
appeal is lodged with 
the Magistrates Court 
by 07/01/2022 
 

 

6.2  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? No 
  
7.0  List of Appendices: 

 
7.1  None. 

 
8.0  Financial considerations: 

 
8.1  None. 

 
9.0  Legal considerations: 

 
9.1  None. 

 
 

Page 17



10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  None. 
 
 

11.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1  None. 
 

12.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1  None. 
 

13.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  None. 
 

14.0  Background papers: 
 

14.1  None. 
 

 
 

Page 18



Blackpool Council 
Development Management 
 
Officer Report to Committee 
 
 

Application ref:  21/0247 
Ward: WATERLOO 
Application type: FULL 

 
Location: ARNOLD MEDICAL CENTRE, 204 ST ANNES ROAD, BLACKPOOL, FY4 2EF 

 
Proposal: Erection of a single storey rear extension and extension of existing hard 

surfacing to the front and side of property to create replacement parking.  
 

Recommendation: Refuse 
 

Case officer: Bethany Thornton 
 

Case officer contact: 01253 476312 
  
 
1.0 BLACKPOOL COUNCIL PLAN 2019-2024  
 
1.1 The Council Plan sets out two priorities. The first is ‘the economy: maximising growth and 

opportunity across Blackpool’, and the second is ‘communities: creating stronger 
communities and increasing resilience.  

 
1.2 This application is considered to conflict with the second priority because, whilst it would 

deliver a community service, the proposed growth would be within a site that, due to the 
location and scale, cannot sustain the type of development proposed without compromising 
residential amenity. It has not been demonstrated that alternative opportunities for 
sustainable growth of the practice to benefit the community and ensure that development 
remains sustainable over its lifetime have been fully explored.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 This application proposes the further development of the existing doctor’s surgery. The site 

is small and the practice has already been expanded significantly beyond the footprint of the 
original building. The proposal would therefore result in a detrimental impact on residential 
amenity. The need to develop the practice to benefit the community is acknowledged but it 
is not considered that the current application site is sustainable as a location for the type of 
development proposed and the growth desired. As such, the recommendation for this 
application is for refusal.  

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
3.1 This application is before Members because the scheme is of public interest and concerns a 

community health care facility.   
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



4.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
4.1 A part two-storey, part single-storey building on the eastern side of St Anne’s Road adjacent 

to the Lennox Gate, separated from the highway by a grass verge. There is hard standing and 
some soft landscaping at the front of the site and hard standing forming a car park to the 
rear. The practice was converted from a detached dwelling house in 1991 and has been 
significantly expanded by two-storey and single-storey extensions.  

 
4.2 To the north the site shares a boundary with a semi-detached two-storey dwellinghouse 

with a long and narrow garden to the rear. To the east of the site is a pumping station, to the 
south of the site is a wide grass verge with pedestrian paths across it separating the site 
from the highway, and to the west across St Annes Road is a playing field. With the 
exception of the practice itself and the pumping station, the surrounding area is primarily 
residential. 

 
4.3 The site falls within the airport safeguarding consultation area but is not subject to any other 

specific designations or constraints. 
 
5.0 DETAILS OF PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 Erection of a single-storey rear extension to create four additional consulting rooms. The 

extension would project 16.7m from the rear elevation to which it would be joined and 
would be 7.2m wide. It would be set away from the boundary by approximately 1.6m at its 
closest point and would have hipped roofing which would be 3.3m high to eaves level and 
5m high to the ridge of the roof. The floor level would be 0.7m above ground level to match 
the floor level of the existing building and would have steps and a ramp up to the access on 
the southern side elevation. On the southern elevation would be the access flanked by full 
height windows and another window alongside it, and on the northern elevation there 
would be five windows serving treatment rooms and a toilet.  

 
5.2 The scheme would include the creation of seven parking spaces at the front of the site with 

access from St Annes Road by installing additional hardstanding and the provision of thirteen 
spaces including a disabled space to the rear/side of the site with access from Lennox Gate, 
using space which currently forms the grass verge and a vehicle access to the rear of the site.  

 
5.3 The application has been supported by: 

 Design and Access Statement – though this has not been updated following 
amendments to the scheme. 

 Supporting Statement Letter. 
 
6.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
6.1 09/0954 - Erection of single storey rear extension to form 2 additional 

consultation/treatment rooms and extension of car park – Granted.  
 
6.2 97/0911 – Erection of temporary portable building to be used as pharmacy – Granted. 
 
6.3 97/0272 – Erection of single storey extension to existing medical centre to provide chemists 

dispensary and waiting area, new access and disabled access ramp – Granted.  
 
6.4 97/0271 - Erection of first floor side/rear extension – Granted. 
 

Page 20



6.5 94/0239 – Erection of single storey extension to existing medical centre to provide chemist 
dispensary and waiting/display area with separate access – Granted.  

 
6.6 91/0854 – Erection of single storey extensions and conversion of premises to a doctors’ 

surgery – Granted. 
 
6.7 91/0447 – Use as a doctors surgery. – GTD 
 
6.8 There is a prior approval application (ref. 21/0986) for the erection of a single-storey 

extension at 202 St Annes Road currently under consideration, however the proposed 
extension would square off the rear of the ground floor and the projection distance of the 
existing extension adjacent to the boundary would not be altered.  
 

7.0 MAIN PLANNING ISSUES 
 
7.1 The main planning issues are considered to be: 

 Amenity impact 

 Highway impact 

 Visual impact 
 

8.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
8.1 Head of Highways and Traffic Management:  
 
8.1.1 It is not anticipated that the activity arising from the proposals would be a concern in itself. 

However, the site is already short of spaces when weighed against the Council’s standards; 
the additional four consulting rooms should come with sixteen additional spaces. The site is 
close to a bus stop, but most surgeries are and the site is not otherwise remarkably 
accessible. At the front of the site six spaces are proposed in tandem pairs with a seventh at 
the side of the site. It is likely that cars could be reversed out onto the footway to allow the 
trapped cars out – clearly this is not acceptable, although if the spaces were removed from 
the proposal it is likely that they would be used in the same way.  

 
8.1.2 The first issue has no solution, it is a case of accept it or not. The second issue could be 

resolved by moving the access, which would mean moving the bus shelter and raised kerb at 
their expense. If you are minded to approve the application I would look for the issues to be 
addressed.  
 

8.1.3 If the Council is minded to approve the application, I would want a condition that the extra 
parking is surfaced to base court level prior to commencement of construction and made 
available to the contractor for parking, storage, skips etc. That would minimise the effect on 
residents and disruption to the highway. 
 

8.1.4 Following amendments to the scheme, the proposed 20 spaces are not considered to be 
enough to meet the demand leading to more use of on street space to the detriment of the 
residential area around the site. The original proposal indicated 9 existing spaces and 9 
spaces on completion. (The Design and Access Statement indicated 2 to be lost, implying 7 
on completion.) A rather larger number is now proposed. The Council’s standards, which 
have not been arrived at arbitrarily, suggest 4 spaces per consulting room. As existing they 
have 9 rooms and will have 12 on completion. So, in order to meet their needs they would 
now have 36 spaces and would add another 12, making 48 to meet the standard. 

 

Page 21



8.1.5 The application form indicates that they only have 12 full time staff (or 12 FTE’s) now and 
that future staffing levels are unknown. It would not be unreasonable to suppose that the 
resulting practice could have 20 staff and 20 patients in the building at any one time with 
mobile staff coming and going. In the absence of clearly substantiated staffing information, 
the only way to assess demand is to use the parking standards. There is considered to be no 
justification to reduce parking provision below relevant standards.  
 

8.1.6 Regarding the 7 spaces at the front, it is considered that these would lead to people 
reversing out onto a classified road at a bus stop. Ordinarily a parking layout would be 
required that would allow/facilitate entry and exit in forward gear. The layout as proposed 
would not appear to work that way. Even if the proposal were to be amended the staff 
could/would still use the spaces by reversing out.  

 
8.1.7 There appears to be a trend toward such sites becoming more intensively used and that the 

immediate target is building on the landscaping or on the car park if there is one. This 
inevitably and undesirably displaces staff and patients onto the nearby roads. The 
construction period, lasting several months, is potentially rather worse since the contractor 
will need storage and welfare space, displacing parked cars, and all the operatives will likely 
have their own vehicle. 

 
8.1.8 Reference to other sites is noted and their history is well-known. Those in town centre or 

similar locations tend to be more sustainable for travel and also, crucially, tend to have less 
dispersed patient rolls. Perpetuating the limited parking at the town centre sites is not, then, 
necessarily inherently detrimental to the service or the neighbourhood’s amenity.  Further 
out from the centre the patient roll seems to be more dispersed with greater likelihood of 
private car use to access services. Expanding the use of these sites would, logically, prompt a 
greater number of car journeys and a need for more parking spaces not less.  

 
8.1.9 If the greater number of car journeys is not accommodated in additional car parking the 

excess will end up parking on street.  This would have obvious effects on residential amenity, 
traffic capacity and safety, depending on the location.  It may also require patients with 
limited mobility to walk further to reach the building although accessible parking provision is 
proposed on site. Parking judged to be associated with the existing practice has been 
observed on several occasions on both sides of Lennox Gate extending up to or beyond 
Molyneux Drive, partially obstructing both footways and the carriageway.  The remaining 
width between parked vehicles is insufficient for two cars to pass. On that basis there is a 
risk of vehicles being unable to enter from St Annes Road, leading to highway safety issues. 
As such, the proposed parking provision is considered to be unacceptable.  
 

8.2 Head of Strategic Asset and Estate: No comments have been received in time for inclusion 
in this report. However, it has been advised that the applicant has been in contact with the 
Council’s estates team to discuss leasing part of the land to the side of the site included 
within the red edge.  
 

8.3 Council Drainage Officer: There are no drainage details on the proposed plans. I assume 
they will be using the existing system but they would need to provide simple details showing 
this. Other than that I do not see any issued with them using the existing drainage as the site 
is currently impermeable.  
 

8.4 Blackpool International Airport: No comments have been received in time for inclusion in 
this report. If any comments are received in advance of the Committee meeting they will be 
reported through the update note. 

Page 22



9.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
9.1 Neighbours notified: 22/03/2021 
 
9.4 A representation have been received from the following properties:  
 

 2A Lennox Gate 
 

9.5 This representation raise the following issues:  

 Overdevelopment of the site as there have already been large extensions to the 
building. 

 Lack of parking as the existing parking is being reduced and more treatment rooms 
added. 

 No indication of where hazardous waste bins will be positioned. 

 If the expansion is necessary a relocation or new purpose built surgery may be better.  
 

9.6 A letter of support has been received from Health Education England which sets out that the 
extension would allow the practice to take additional trainees for the wider primary health 
care team to support the Department of Health plan to increase the primary care workforce. 
The practice would also be able to increase the numbers of medical students that they train 
and allow the practice to place more doctors in training. Providing a great training 
experience encourages doctors to stay locally after they complete training; Blackpool is an 
under doctored area and anything done to retain doctors is advantageous to the health of 
Blackpool’s residents. The Chief Medical Officers report of Coastal Health highlights the 
health challenges that Blackpool faces.   

 
10.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
10.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
10.1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework was adopted in July 2021. It sets out a presumption 

in favour of sustainable development. The following sections are most relevant to this 
application:  

 

 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 

 Section 6 - Building a Strong, Competitive Economy 

 Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities 

 Section 11 - Making effective use of land 

 Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 
 
10.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
10.2.1 The National Planning Practice Guidance expands upon and offers clarity on the points of 
policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
10.3 Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 
 
10.3.1 The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2016. The following policies are most relevant to 

this application:  

 CS7 Quality of Design 

 CS12 Sustainable Neighbourhoods 

 CS15 Health and Education 

Page 23



 
10.4 Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016 (saved policies) 
 
10.4.1 The Blackpool Local Plan was adopted in June 2006. A number of policies in the Local Plan 

have now been superseded by policies in the Core Strategy but others have been saved until 
the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies has been 
produced. The following saved policies are most relevant to this application:  

 

 LQ1 Lifting the Quality of Design 

 LQ2 Site Context 

 LQ4 Building Design 

 LQ14 Extensions and Alterations 

 BH3 Residential Amenity 

 BH4 Public Health and Safety 

 AS1 General Development Requirements (Access and Transport) 

 AS7 Aerodrome Safeguarding 
 

10.5 Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
(emerging policies) 

 
10.5.1 The Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 has been submitted for Examination in Public with the 

Inquiry scheduled to commence in December 2021. At this point in time limited weight can 
be attached to the policies proposed in accordance with the provisions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Nevertheless, the following draft policies in Part 2 are most 
relevant to this application:  

 

 Policy DM17: Design Principles 

 Policy DM20: Extensions and Alterations 

 Policy DM41: Transport Requirements for New Development 
 
10.6 Other Relevant Policy Guidance 
 
10.6.1 Extending Your Home Supplementary Planning Document (2007) – Though the development 

is not a residential extension, the site is within a residential area and shares a boundary with 
a residential dwelling. Therefore, the principles in this document which aim to safeguard 
residential amenity will be relevant to the proposed development.  

 
11.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
11.1 Principle 
 
11.1.1 Policy CS15 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1 concerns health and education and sets out 

that development will be supported that encourages healthy and active lifestyles and 
addresses the Council’s health priorities. It states that in order to provide accessible 
healthcare to Blackpool’s communities, proposals will be supported that complement 
existing facilities including local delivery primary care units. The policy sets out that to 
ensure future provision is located in the most sustainable and accessible locations, facilities 
should be appropriately located in accordance with their scale and catchment. The National 
Planning Policy Framework sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
states that policies and decisions should aim to achieve places which enable and support 
healthy lifestyles and ensure that established facilities and services are able to develop and 
modernise and are retained for the benefit of the community.  

Page 24



11.1.2 The key consideration in this case, therefore, is whether or not the practice can expand on 
its existing site without having an unacceptable impact on its surroundings.  

 
11.2 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
11.2.1 The application site is within a primarily residential area and shares a boundary with a 

neighbouring residential dwelling. The building itself was in use as a detached residential 
dwelling before its conversion to a medical practice in 1991. As such, whilst the proposed 
development is not an extension to a dwelling, it would impact the neighbouring residential 
dwelling in the same way that any residential extension would and so the principles 
contained in the Council’s Extending Your Home Supplementary Planning Document to 
safeguard residential amenity are applicable here. The guidance sets out that single storey 
extensions are typically acceptable where they project no more than 3m beyond the 
relevant rear elevation of the adjoining dwelling plus any distance that it is set off from the 
boundary. In this case, the existing extensions at the practice accord with this guidance, as 
the neighbouring dwelling has its own rear extension and the practice extension closest to 
the boundary projects less than 3m beyond the rear elevation, set 0.5m from the boundary. 
The proposed extension would be sited approximately 1.6m from the boundary at its closest 
point and 2.2m from the boundary at its furthest point. This means that in accordance with 
the SPD guidance at its furthers point the extension should project no more than 5.2m 
beyond the rear elevation of the extension at the neighbouring dwelling.  

 
11.2.2 As proposed, the extension would project approximately 19m beyond the relevant rear 

elevation. This is significantly beyond what would typically be permitted for any rear 
extension in a residential context. Furthermore, the extension is also taller than a typical 
single-storey extension due to the raised floor level, meaning that the elevation closest to 
the boundary would be 3.3m high to the eaves and the overall roof height would be 5m for 
most of the length of the 20m projection. Not only would this create an enclosed and 
overbearing impact on the neighbouring property, but the extension would also be sited to 
the south of the neighbouring property and so would cause a significant amount of 
overshadowing to the rear of the dwelling and garden. This weighs strongly against the 
application.  
 

11.2.3 It is acknowledged that there is substantial greenery along the boundary and that a 2m high 
fence could be erected without the need for planning permission. However, the height and 
scale of the extension significantly exceeds the potential impact of a 2m high boundary 
treatment and the Council has no control over the retention of the greenery to screen the 
development as it is outside of the application site.  
 

11.2.4 Notwithstanding the impact of the scale of the extension on the neighbouring property, the 
windows proposed on the side elevation of the extension facing the neighbouring property 
would be less of a concern as it can be conditioned that they are obscured and non-opening. 
To the rear, the close proximity to the rear boundary would not impact residential amenity 
at the neighbouring site is a commercial pumping station.  

 
11.3 Access, Highway Safety, and Parking 
 
11.3.1 As existing the medical centre has 9 consultation rooms; the proposals would result in the 

creation of an additional 4, and one of the existing rooms would be converted into an office, 
therefore the resulting development would consist of 12 consulting rooms. At present 
therefore the surgery should have up to 36 parking spaces, and following the development 
proposed this should increase to 48.  

Page 25



 
11.3.2 The existing car park to the rear has 9 designated parking spaces; at the front of the site no 

spaces are marked but there is hard surfacing that can be used for parking and appears to be 
able to accommodation 3 or 4 cars. In comparison to the Council standard of 4 spaces per 
consulting room, with around 12 spaces the practice already falls short by 24 spaces. As 
originally submitted, the proposals would have resulted in the loss of parking at the rear 
(down to 2 spaces) and the use of the hard surfacing to the front as 7 designated spaces, 
though 3 of these would be tandem parking. Overall the scheme would have resulted in the 
loss of parking at a site which already had very limited on-site parking provision. In response 
to these concerns, the applicant engaged with the Council’s Estates team regarding the use 
of some of the Council owned land to the side of the site for the provision of additional 
parking. It is now proposed that this land be used to provide additional parking for use by 
the practice. The revised scheme would provide 11 additional spaces including a disabled 
space. This would bring total provision on site up to 20 spaces, 6 of which would be arranged 
tandem.  

 
11.3.2 This amount of on-site parking would still fall below the Council standard of up to 48 and 

limited justification has been given as to why this would be acceptable. The applicant has set 
out that there is a bus stop just outside and there is some on-street parking available, 
however this is the case for most surgeries and the site is not otherwise in a particularly 
accessible location which would warrant a significant departure from adopted parking 
standards. The increase in the intensity of the use of the site would increase the parking 
need and the Council’s Head of Highways and Traffic Management has advised that the 
proposed 20 spaces is not enough to meet the demand and would lead to a greater amount 
of on-street parking both to the detriment of public amenity in the residential area around 
the site, and the patients accessing the site who would have to park further away. As such, 
the lack of off-street parking provision to meet the needs of the practice weighs strongly 
against the proposal.  

 
11.3.3 In addition to the above, the revised proposals would still include tandem parking to the 

front of the site with access from St Annes Road. Three of the spaces would be located 
behind other spaces and so for the vehicles parked there to be moved the vehicles in front 
would need to move. Ideally this would be achieved by pulling into the space at the side of 
the building but this area has also been designated as a parking space. As such, when not 
available, cars would have to reverse onto the footway to let the tandem parked cars out. 
This would not be acceptable given that St. Annes Road is a busy classified road and given 
the proximity of the adjacent bus stop. This issue could be resolved by reconfiguring the 
spaces so they do not involve tandem parking. However this would mean moving the access 
and subsequently relocating the dropped kerb and bus stop and would likely further reduce 
the number of spaces available. Were the Council minded to support this proposal, this issue 
would need to be addressed prior to determination.  

 
11.3.4 Again, were the Council minded to support the scheme, a condition would need to be 

imposed requiring the extra parking to be surfaced to base course level prior to 
commencement of construction and made available to the contractor for parking, storage, 
skips etc. to minimise the disruption to the highway.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



11.4 Visual Impact 
 
11.4.1 The proposed extension would be to the rear of the building and would not be visible from 

St Annes Road. However, as the building is on a corner plot some of the extension would be 
visible from Lennox Gate. The extension would have hipped roofing to match the existing 
single-storey extensions to the building and reflect the roofing of the original build. The 
materials used would match those of the original building and the windows would reflect 
the style of the existing ground floor windows, aligned directly below the eaves and spaced 
well.  

 
11.4.2 The existing building has already been extended multiple times. Further extensions would 

add to the mass of the building and could make it appear disproportionate to the 
surrounding dwellings and overly large within the context of the site. However, in this case 
the extension would be single-storey and well-set back from the road. Due to the existing L-
shaped arrangement of the building, only an additional 10m would be visible when viewed 
from Lennox Gate and it would be set 22m away from the highway. As stated, the extension 
has been designed sympathetically to the host building. As such, on balance, no 
substantively detrimental impacts on the quality or appearance of the site or street scene 
are anticipated.   

 
11.4.3 To the front of the site the scheme proposes the hard surfacing of some existing soft 

landscaping to provide additional parking. The plans show the retention of some shrubbery 
and planting around the border of the frontage, and this along with the presence of the 
grass verge alongside the site means that some green infrastructure would be retained and 
would contribute to the appearance of the site and the street scene. As mentioned above if 
the scheme were to be considered acceptable in principle the parking and access 
arrangement would need to be amended, however regardless of the parking arrangements 
the Council would expect to see some soft landscaping retained.  

 
11.5 Community benefits 
 
11.5.1 The extension is proposed in response to the increase in patients registered at the practice, 

the need for ensuring a flow of access following COVID-19, extra clinicians and services being 
added to the site, and the need for additional space to train local medical students. The 
supporting information for the application outlines that if the practice is not extended it will 
not be able to serve the local community, cannot take on additional patients and, in the 
worst case scenario, could close down.  

 
11.5.2 It is acknowledged and accepted that there is a need to expand and improve existing health 

care facilities both to meet modern standards and serve the increasing population. Blackpool 
is an extremely deprived local authority area and health deprivation is known to be 
significant with the area suffering from some of the worst indicators in the area. As such, 
development that proposes the improvement of existing health services and aligns with the 
Council’s aim to address local health priorities should be afforded significant positive weight 
in the planning balance.  

 
11.6 Other Considerations 
 
11.6.1 The site falls within Flood Zone 1 and as such a Flood Risk Assessment is not required. 

However, the scheme does include the hard surfacing of areas which are currently soft 
landscaping and therefore surface water drainage may be affected. As such, if the scheme 
were to be considered acceptable a condition requiring the materials used for surfacing to 

Page 27



be agreed should be imposed to ensure that they are permeable. It is assumed that the 
existing drainage system would be used for the extension and associated development; 
should the scheme be considered acceptable simple details to this effect should be included 
on the plans.  

 

11.6.2 The proposal would not affect any features of particular ecological interest or trees of 
significant value. Whilst the proposed extension would be in close proximity to greenery 
along the border, there would be a couple of metres clearance and the greenery is early 
mature therefore with the fence and hardstanding already in place it is not considered that a 
survey would be required or the any major roots would be disturbed. As such, no 
unacceptable biodiversity impacts are anticipated. 

 

11.6.3 The proposal would not have any impact on air, land or water quality and there is no reason 
to suppose that the development would be at undue risk from contamination.  

 
11.6.4   The application has been considered in the context of the Council’s general duty in all its 

functions to have regard to community safety issues as required by section 17 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended). 

 
11.6.5.   Under Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol to the Convention on Human Rights, a 

person is entitled to the right to respect for private and family life, and the peaceful 
enjoyment of his/her property. However, these rights are qualified in that they must be set 
against the general interest and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. This 
application does not raise any specific human rights issues. 

 
11.6.6 Through the assessment of this application, Blackpool Council as a public authority has had 

due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (“PSED”) under s.149 of the Equality Act and 
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between 
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, and to foster 
or encourage good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. The application is not considered to raise any inequality issues. 

 
11.7       Sustainability and planning balance appraisal 
 
11.7.1   Sustainability comprises economic, environmental and social components. 
 
11.7.2   Economically, the scheme would expand the functionality of the medical centre and allow 

for the business to develop.  
 
11.7.3   Environmentally, the appearance of the proposed extension would be sympathetic to the 

existing building. Some soft landscaping would be lost, however the scheme would include 
some planting around the border of the forecourt and most of the grass verge to the side of 
the site would be retained. As such, the visual impact would be considered acceptable. The 
scheme would slightly increase the impermeable area, however porous materials and simple 
drainage details could be conditioned. No unacceptable impacts on biodiversity or 
environmental quality are anticipated.  

 
11.6.4   Socially, the scheme would increase the capacity of the medical centre in response to local 

demand and would benefit the community by increasing the services delivered and allowing 
on-site training for local medical students. This would benefit wider health provision in 
Blackpool. These positive benefits clearly weigh strongly in favour of the proposal. They 
must be balanced against the detrimental impacts on the residential amenity of the 

Page 28



neighbour and the lack of parking provision which would compromise general public 
amenity.  

 
11.6.5 The CCG has indicated that the surgery could close if this latest extension is not supported. 

However, no viability assessment or financial evidence has been provided to demonstrate 
this. The supporting information states that the applicant has previously looked at relocating 
the practice but found nowhere suitable which would serve the same catchment area. The 
possibility of moving into the South Shore Primary Care Centre was considered some years 
ago but there was not enough space at the site for this practice alongside those existing. 
However, no substantial evidence of recent consideration of alternative suitable sites or 
options has been provided. Medical students could, for example, be trained at other centres 
across the borough. The South Shore Primary Care Centre is only around 1.5km away and 
would appear to be well situated to serve at least some of the practice catchment to meet 
new demand. There may also be potential to expand the site by acquiring more of the land 
to the side for an extension. This would not have an amenity impact on the neighbours and 
could facilitate greater parking provision. However this has not been fully explored.  

 
11.6.6 It is evident both from the applicant’s reasoning for the need to expand and the fact that the 

practice has been expanded significantly since its approval in 1991 that modern 
circumstances call for the constant development of health care facilities if they are to 
continue to increase the services offered and the number of patients they intake. The 
building has already been expanded to almost double its original footprint since permission 
was granted for the use as a medical centre. Whilst Policy CS15 supports the development of 
local health care facilities, it also sets out that facilities should be appropriately located in 
accordance with their scale and catchment to ensure future provision is located in the most 
sustainable and accessible locations. 

 
11.6.7 Both the National Planning Policy Framework and The National Design Guide emphasise the 

importance of ensuring that development remains sustainable over its lifetime. When 
permission was initially granted for the use of the site as a medical practice the building was 
sufficient for the proposed use with just some minor additions. Over time further extensions 
have been permitted in the interests of community benefit, having been weighed against 
potential issues with overdevelopment, amenity impact, and parking provision. It may be 
that the practice has now reached a point where further intensified use and future 
development cannot be sustained within the confines of the site without compromising 
other material planning considerations to an unreasonable extent. 

 
11.6.8 The site is relatively small and within a residential setting. The extension would be sited 

alongside the boundary with residential dwelling and would substantially exceed what 
would usually be permitted in a residential setting. The parking provision would be slightly 
increased to reflect the increased capacity, but would still fall significantly below the 
Council’s parking standards. The development proposed would therefore impact 
unacceptably on the residential amenity of the neighbour and inadequate parking would be 
provided to meet the needs of the expanded practice.  

 
11.6.9 Overall, whilst the expansion and improvement of existing health care facilities are 

supported in principle and weight is afforded to the benefit to the health of the community, 
this consideration cannot be overriding at the expense of all other planning considerations. 
Permitted development allowances prescribed by the government do not allow for health 
care facilities to expand without limit and, where planning permission is sought, all material 
planning considerations must be given appropriate weight and balanced with one another. 
The practice has been permitted to expand and grow since its original conversion to deliver 

Page 29



health benefits to the local communities where necessary and appropriate, however the 
current proposal is considered to be unacceptable. The applicant has not satisfactorily 
demonstrated that site can sustain further expansion and alternative options to meet 
community needs have not been satisfactorily explored.  

 
11.6.10  When weighed in the planning balance, though the scheme would provide some benefit to 

the community and significant weight is afforded to this material consideration it cannot be 
overriding in all circumstances at the expense of all other planning considerations. In this 
case, for the reasons set out in this report is it not considered that the benefits of the 
scheme would outweigh the detrimental impacts resulting from the overdevelopment of the 
land or ensure that the development remains sustainable in the long term. Whilst the 
development of medical facilities is necessary and encouraged, it is not felt that the 
development can be achieved on the application site with compromising other material 
planning considerations to an unacceptable extent.  

 
8.0       CONCLUSION 
 
8.1       As set out above, the scheme is not considered to represent sustainable development and 

no material planning considerations would outweigh this assessment in the planning 
balance. On this basis, planning permission should be refused.  

 
9.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1       Refuse for the following reason:  
 

The proposed extension would significantly exceed what would typically be permitted within 
a residential setting and would have a detrimental impact on residential amenity by virtue of 
an overbearing and overshadowing impact on the neighbouring property due to its 
projection distance, proximity to the boundary, and height.  

 
The parking provision proposed would be insufficient to meet the needs of the resulting 
surgery which would likely lead to unsafe or inconsiderate car parking on-street to the 
detriment of public amenity and highway safety. Furthermore, the proposed parking 
provision and vehicle access at the front of the site would have an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety as the configuration of parking spaces would require vehicles to reverse onto 
a busy highway to allow cars that were parked in tandem to egress which would 
compromise public safety and have detrimental impacts on highway function.  

 
It has not been adequately demonstrated that alternative options are unsuitable and that 
this development is essential in order to meet community needs. As such and in light of the 
above, the proposals are considered to constitute excessively intensive and inadequately 
justified over-development of the site to an unsustainable extent. They are therefore 
contrary to the provisions of Policies CS7, CS12 and CS15 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: 
Core Strategy 2012-2027, Policies LQ1, LQ14, BH3 and AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-
2016, and Sections 2 and 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

 

Page 30



Arnold Medical Centre Plans 

Location Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aerial Image 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5(a) 

Page 31



Proposed Site Plan, Floor Plans, and Elevations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



Site Photos 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 NOVEMBER 2021
	Minutes

	3 PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED
	4 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT
	5 PLANNING APPLICATION 21/0247: ARNOLD MEDICAL CENTRE, 204 ST ANNES ROAD, BLACKPOOL
	21-0247_ArnoldMedicalCentre_plans


